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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

GARY ALLEN,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas

(3:94 CR 102 R
August 4, 1995

Bef ore DAVI S, BARKSDALE and DeM3SS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *
BACKGROUND

In a two-count indictnent, Gary All en was charged w th maki ng
a false statenent in a matter within the jurisdiction of the United
States Food and Drug Adm nistration ("FDA"), in violation of 18

US C 8§ 1001, and with distributing a msbranded drug, gamm

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases
on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



hydr oxybutyrate ("GHB"), with the intent to defraud and m slead, in
vi ol ati on of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosnetic Act ("FFDCA"), 21
U S C 88 331(a) and 333(a)(2). Alen noved the district court to
dism ss the indictnent on the ground that the word "drug,"” as it is
defined in the FFDCA, is unconstitutionally vague. The notion was
deni ed. Allen was found guilty on both counts. Al l en has
appeal ed.

Al I en was president of JDI Enterprises, a general partnership,
which was in the business of selling food supplenents to body-
bui l ders. Beginning in August 1990, Allen marketed and sold GHB
In his pronotional literature, Allen represented that GHB woul d
cause the release of growh hornone, induce sleep, act as an
aphr odi si ac, and produce a psychotropic "high".

During an inspection of JD in January 1991 an FDA
i nvesti gat or asked Al |l en whet her he had recei ved any GHB- cont ai ni ng
products fromany ot her source or supplier other than three bottles
of GHB he had received from Am no D scounters in Tucson, Arizona.
Al'len said that he had not. This statenent was fal se because, as
Al l en knew, he had previously purchased |large quantities of GHB
fromother sources. By late 1990 or early 1991, Allen had | earned
that GHB was an illegal and dangerous drug. Allen continued to
distribute GHB. In February 1993, Allen sold 50 bottles of GHB to
Bruce Brenner, a confidential informant.

Al l en argues that the indictnment should have been di sm ssed
because the definition of the term "drug" in the FFDCA is

unconstitutionally vague. The district court's |egal concl usions



are reviewed de novo and any fact findings are reviewed for clear

error. See United States v. Deshaw, 974 F.2d 667, 669 (5th Cr.

1992).

"A penal statute is void for vagueness unless it " define[s]
the crimnal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary
peopl e can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner
t hat does not encourage arbitrary and di scrimnatory enforcenent."'"

Buckley v. Collins, 904 F. 2d 263, 266 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 498

US 990 (1990) (alteration in original) (quoting Kolender v.
Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983)). "A conviction my be
unconstitutional if it is obtained under a statute so vague that it
does not provide adequate notice of what conduct will be deened

crimnal." Springer v. Colenman, 998 F.2d 320, 322 (5th Cr. 1993).

The indictnment stated that substances known collectively as GIB
were drugs within the neaning of Title 21, United States
Code, Section 321(g)(1)(C, inthat they were intended to
af fect the structure and any function of the body of man,
and within the neaning of Title 21 United States Code,
Section 321(g)(1(D), in that they were intended for use
as a conponent of any article to affect the structure and
any function of the body of nman.

Al'l en contends that 88 321(g)(1)(C and (D) are unconstitutionally

vague, facially and as applied in this case. Any of the substances

he sold, Allen argues, including vitamns and protein powders,
woul d have been "drugs" under the statutory definition because al

were "intended to affect the structure and any function of the body
of man." Even water could be considered a drug under this

definition.



| f a vagueness chall enge does not involve First Amendnent
i ssues, the sufficiency of notice provided by the statute nust be
examned in light of the conduct for which the defendant is

char ged. United States v. Mazurie, 419 U S. 544, 550 (1975)

United States v. National Dairy Products Corp., 372 U S. 29, 33

(1963). A court nmay sustain a facial challenge to the vagueness of
a law

only if the enactnent is inpermssibly vague in all of
its applications. A plaintiff who engages in sone
conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot conpl ain of the
vagueness of the | aw as applied to the conduct of others.
A court should therefore examne the conplainant's
conduct before anal yzi ng ot her hypot heti cal applications
of the | aw

Hone Depot, Inc. v. Quste, 773 F.2d 616, 627 (5th Gr. 1985)

(quoting Village of Hoffnman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffrnman Estates,

Inc., 455 U. S. 489, 495 (1982)); see Hone Depot, Inc. v. Guste, 777

F.2d 1063, 1064-65 (5th Gr. 1985) (opinion denying petition for
rehearing).

As the Governnent argues, Allen was subjectively aware that
GHB was a "drug" under the FFDCA. Allen was faxed an "ALERT" by
the National Nutritional Foods Association that warned of adverse
reactions to GHB. Al l en was advised in January 1991 by an FDA
agent that the GHB was an unapproved drug. A reasonable person
woul d have known that his conduct was proscribed under the

circunstances. See Maynard v. Cartwight, 486 U S. 356, 361 (1988)

(" Obj ections to vagueness under the Due Process O ause rest on the

| ack of notice, and hence may be overcone in any specific case



where reasonable persons would know that their conduct is at
risk.").

Al l en's argunent inplicates whether the statute i s overbroad.
"A statute wll survive an overbreadth chall enge unless it reaches
a substantial anobunt of constitutionally protected conduct.
Over breadt h anal ysi s has been used primarily to invalidate statutes
af fecting freedons of expression and association protected by the

first anmendnent."” United States v. Wcker, 933 F.2d 284, 287-88

(5th Cr.) (internal quotations and citation omtted), cert.

deni ed, 502 U.S. 958 (1991); see also Hoffman Estates, 455 U. S. at

497 ("overbreadth doctrine does not apply to commercial speech").
Because Allen's challenge does not inplicate First Amendnent
expression or other constitutionally protected conduct, we concl ude
that the statute was not unconstitutionally overbroad as applied to

him See Hoffrman Estates, 455 U S. at 496 (a governnent may

regul ate or ban speech proposing an illegal transaction); United
States v. Article of Drug ... Bacto-Unidisk ..., 394 U S. 784, 793
(1969) (construing precursor to 8 321(g) -- "we think it plain that

Congress intended to define "drug" far nore broadly than does the
medi cal profession").

Because Allen's vagueness and overbreadth challenges to the
definition of the term"drug" in the FFDCA are without nerit, the
court will not consider the governnent's argunent that Allen | acks
standing to challenge the constitutionality of the definition in
the context of a conviction under 18 U S.C. § 1001. The
convi ctions are AFFI RVED



